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Foreword


The officer corps of the British Army of the late Georgian and early Victorian periods was drawn from a diversity of backgrounds. Contrary to one perception, the aristocracy represented only a minor, if influential, component: more prolific were those drawn from the lesser gentry, minor landowners and the professional classes, and it was possible for a soldier of even humbler origins to rise to high rank if he possessed the talent and the luck. During the years of the Peninsular War, for example, no less than 803 ‘rankers’ were commissioned as officers,1 although it was difficult for them to prosper after the war if devoid of either influence or financial resources. The opportunities were a degree more auspicious for those who had some military connections, and one of the most remarkable officers from a relatively modest background is the subject of this study: Colin Campbell.


From a family more artisan than gentry, Colin Campbell had a reasonable education and was commissioned while still a boy. He began to learn his trade during a gallant career in the Peninsular War but, in common with many junior officers, Campbell’s promotion was slow in the limited opportunities for distinction following the end of the Napoleonic Wars. However, he served widely and clearly capably until he became famous for his command of the Highland Brigade in the Crimea, and, following that, in higher command in India, where he reached the pinnacle of his reputation.


In the pantheon of military heroes of the Victorian era, Colin Campbell was unusual, and while he may not have been among those of the first rank as a tactician, he surely was in terms of the rapport he established with those under his command. Fairness and understanding seem to have dictated his conduct, as related by a number who encountered him. William Munro graduated as MD from Glasgow in 1844 at the age of 22 and joined the 91st Foot as assistant surgeon in the same year. Ten years later he was appointed surgeon to the 93rd (Sutherland) Highlanders and shortly after joining his new regiment in the Crimea first met Campbell. As an experienced officer his observations on his commander are significant:





… on being introduced to him, he shook me kindly by the hand, and bade me to ‘look well after my regiment as it would soon need all my care and attention’. he was the picture of a soldier; strong and active, though weather-beaten. Ever after my first introduction to him, in the Crimea and in India, Sir Colin was kind and friendly to me.2





When recalling Campbell’s participation in the action at Balaklava, notably that involving the 93rd that became known as the Thin Red Line, Munro observed that after the regiment had fired a couple of volleys at the approaching Russian cavalry:





The men of the 93rd at that moment became a little, just a little, restive, and brought their rifles to the charge, manifesting an inclination to advance, and meet the cavalry half-way with the bayonet. But old Sir Colin brought them sharply back to discipline. He could be angry, could Sir Colin, and when in an angry mood spoke sharp and quick, and when very angry, was given to use emphatic language; and such he made use of on that occasion. The men were quiet and steady at a moment.





Although not born in the Highlands, but from Glasgow, Campbell understood the Highlanders, who clearly adored him, and their esteem was reciprocated. Munro explained:





The men were very proud of Sir Colin as a leader, and were much attracted to him also, and for the following reason. He was of their own warlike race, of their own kith and kin, understood their character and feelings, and could rouse or quiet them at will with a few words … He lived amongst them, and they never knew the moment when, in his watchfulness, he might appear to help and cheer or to chide them. He spoke at times not only kindly, but familiarly to them, and often addressed individuals by their names, for long use and constant intercourse with soldiers had made his memory good in this respect. He was a frequent visitor to the hospital, and took an interest in their ailments, and in all that concerned their comfort when they were ill. Such confidence in and affection for him had the men of the old Highland brigade, that they would have stood by or followed him through any danger. Yet there was never a commanding officer or general more exacting on all points of discipline than he.3





Another 93rd Highlander, William Forbes-Mitchell, quoted an example of Campbell’s memory for faces before the assault on the Sekundrabagh. A Welsh sergeant of the 53rd named Joe Lee, who had served previously under Campbell:





presuming an old acquaintance, called out, ‘Sir Colin, your Excellency, let the infantry storm … and we’ll soon make short work of the murderous villains!’ Sergeant Lee was known by his nickname, Dobbin, and Campbell remembered even this, asking, ‘Do you think the breach is wide enough, Dobbin?’ When the attack was mounted the 4th Punjabis in the first wave faltered, and as soon as Sir Colin saw them waver, he turned to Colonel Ewart, who was in command of the seven companies of the Ninety-Third … and said, ‘Colonel Ewart, bring on the tartan – let my own lads at them!’ Before the command could be repeated or the buglers had time to sound the advance, the whole seven companies, like one man, leaped over the wall, with such a yell of pent-up rage as I had never heard before or since.4





For all the rewards bestowed upon him, Campbell seems to have remained level-headed, even modest. On his first encounter with the 93rd after he had been elevated to the peerage, the regiment’s pipe-major, John MacLeod, said, ‘I beg your pardon, Sir Colin, but we dinna ken hoo tae address you noo that the Queen has made you a Lord’. Campbell replied, ‘Just call me Sir Colin, John, the same as in the old times; I like the old name best’.


The Times correspondent William Russell recalled an incident from the mutiny in which Campbell, with his arm in a sling following an injury sustained in a fall from his horse, sat on a native bed around a camp fire, surrounded by Baluchi troops:





Once he rose to give an order, when a tired Beloochee flung himself on the crazy charpoy, but was jerked off by an indignant comrade with the loud exclamation, ‘Don’t you see, you fool, that you are on the Lord Sahib’s charpoy?’ Lord Clyde broke in, ‘No – let him lie there; don’t interfere with his rest’, and himself took his seat on a billet of wood.





Inevitably a degree of romanticism intruded upon the reality of the Highland regiments and their commanders during the Victorian period, perhaps tending towards an over-simplification of complex factors. Some half a century after Campbell’s death it was stated that ‘Fifty years of arduous service had raised him from a carpenter’s son to the peerage, but he always remained a simple, God-fearing Scot, beloved by the rank and file of his army’.5 It is important that a remarkable individual is now reassessed and commemorated in an important new biography.





Philip Haythornthwaite


Notes


    1  USJ, 1835, 413.


    2  Munro, 2.


    3  Munro, 36–7.


    4  Forbes-Mitchell (London 1887 edition), 47–8.


    5  Gilliat, 331.




Note on Nomenclature


The spelling and choice of place names is a thorny issue. Take, for example, the Indian town of Kanpur in the state of Awadh. In Campbell’s day it was ‘Cawnpore’ in the kingdom of ‘Oudh’ and many modern British books still use that spelling. ‘Cawnpore has not made the transition to Kanpur’, complained Indian historian Rudrangshu Mukherjee recently. ‘This is not a semantic quibble. “Cawnpore” is the sign that the massacres have not lost their pride of place in the white man’s chamber of horrors.’ This seems extreme. Barely anyone in England has even heard of them.


As this is the biography of a British officer, drawing mainly on British sources, I have used British place names current at the time and, where possible, Campbell’s own spelling. Using modern spelling would, for consistency, demand using the modern Chinese Romanisation of place names too. It is awkward to quote from a nineteenth-century British source which refers to the island of ‘Chusan’, and then in the next sentence use its modern spelling ‘Zhoushan’. Likewise, British accounts of the landing in Portugal in 1808 refer to the River ‘Maceira’. To use its local name, ‘Alcabrichel’, would be utterly confusing.


The one exception made is the land of Campbell’s birth. In the nineteenth century it was a near universal convention to refer to the Union of Great Britain and Ireland as ‘England’, and its soldiers as ‘English’. To do otherwise is somewhat anachronistic, but given that Campbell was a Scot who commanded Highland regiments, it avoids absurd phrases like the ‘English battalion of Highlanders’, or ‘the Black Watch won an English victory’, which would jar too much. Therefore, I use ‘Britain’ and ‘British’.


For the revolt of 1857 I use the term ‘Indian Mutiny’. It has been variously called India’s First War of Independence, the Great Rebellion, the Uprising or Revolt of 1857, the Sepoy War and the Sepoy Mutiny. No wonder that when Surendra Sen was commissioned to write a definitive, objective account by the Indian government for the centenary in 1957, he elected to call his work simply Eighteen Fifty-Seven. The revolt was first known as the ‘Indian mutinies’ because, having reported mutinous rumblings for months before violence broke out at Meerut in May 1857, the newspapers continued to report it as a series of isolated events. The majority of nineteenth-century sources use the same terminology, even though it was more cataclysmic than a mere mutiny. One could argue the virtues of the various rebrandings, but the fact remains that if you refer to the ‘Indian Mutiny’ more readers know what you mean than if you use any of the others.


Confusing Campbells


Campbell’s most famous contemporary namesake was Lieutenant-General Sir Colin Campbell (1776–1847), aide-de-camp to Wellington, and later Governor of Ceylon. There was also a Lieutenant-General Colin Campbell (1754–1814) appointed Governor of Gibraltar during the Peninsular War. Campbell has also been mistaken for fellow Crimean War general Sir John Campbell; Captain Colin Frederick Campbell, whose letters from Sebastopol were published in 1894; Colonel Robert Campbell, who served in the Crimea and during the mutiny; and Brigadier William Campbell, who served under Sir Colin Campbell in India. Some have even confused him with the biographer of Princess Diana, Lady Colin Campbell.


For simplicity’s sake, where a source refers to ‘Lord Clyde’ in a context prior to his peerage, I have changed it to ‘Sir Colin’ or ‘Campbell’.


Confusing Regiments


The 1st Foot Guards were known as the Grenadier Guards from 1815, the 2nd Foot Guards as the Coldstream Guards from 1670, and the 3rd or Scots Regiment of Foot Guards as the Scots Fusilier Guards from 1831 to 1877. During Campbell’s time the Scots Fusilier Regiment of Foot was known as the 21st Royal North British Fusilier Regiment of Foot and, from 1877, as the Royal Scots Fusiliers. The 7th Regiment of Foot was known as the Royal Fusiliers.


The 1st (Royal) Regiment of Foot, renamed from February 1812 ‘the 1st Regiment of Foot (Royal Scots)’, was often referred to as ‘the Royals’ or the ‘Royal Scots’. Not to be confused with the 1st (Royal) Regiment of Dragoons, also called the ‘Royals’.


As regards the Indian army, all corps referred to as Native Infantry are Bengal Native Infantry, unless otherwise stated. The Bengal Light Cavalry, Light Infantry and Irregular Cavalry did not use the term ‘Native’ in their title, although the rank and file were Indian. A few short-lived light cavalry regiments were raised during the mutiny from white troops. These were designated European Light Cavalry.


Confusing Ranks


Brevet: As a suffix this indicated temporary rank. A brevet-lieutenant-colonel, for example, was a major promoted to acting lieutenant-colonel. So, during the Indian Mutiny, Major Ewart of the 93rd was promoted brevet-lieutenant-colonel because the regiment’s commander, Lieutenant-Colonel Hope, had been promoted brigadier. After the battle or campaign, the officer reverted to his previous rank. A ‘brevet’ was also a mass promotion for senior officers granted at the end of a war or on a coronation, e.g. in July 1821. This type of brevet was discontinued under Queen Victoria.





Local rank: This was a temporary rank given to an officer for the duration of a campaign overseas. It included three ranks which were only used locally, viz. brigadier (1st class), brigadier (2nd class) and brigadier-general. These ranks were generally granted to colonels placed in command of brigades during war, or colonels with extra responsibilities, such as commandants of garrisons. Local rank was also granted to general officers, so a major-general might be promoted to the local rank of lieutenant-general. Officers reverted to their original, substantive rank at the end of the campaign.





Double rank: An officer could hold a different rank in his regiment than in the army. The highest serving rank in a regiment was lieutenant-colonel, but each regiment also had a colonel of the regiment, a chiefly honorary position often given to a senior general. So, for example, Campbell was made Colonel of the 67th Foot during the Crimean War, while his army rank was major-general. Confusingly, a month later he was given the local rank of lieutenant-general.


Double rank was standard in the Foot Guards, an honour granted by James II. This meant that all Guards officers automatically had a higher rank in the army than in their regiment. So an ensign in the Grenadier Guards was a lieutenant in the army, a Guards lieutenant also a captain in the army, a captain also a lieutenant-colonel, and Guards majors and lieutenant-colonels also full colonels. In wartime, this double rank was extremely important. Supra-regimental command was based on seniority of army rank rather than regimental rank. In a normal infantry regiment of the line, an officer had to be promoted first major, then lieutenant-colonel, then full colonel before becoming a major-general. However, a Guards major was automatically also a full colonel in the army, and could be promoted major-general immediately. This also meant that when Campbell’s Highland Brigade served alongside the Guards Brigade in the 1st Division in the Crimea, although Campbell had been a lieutenant-colonel eighteen years longer than Henry Bentinck, the Guards’ brigade commander, Bentinck was his senior because when promoted major in his regiment (the Coldstream Guards) he also became a full colonel in the army, a year and a month before Campbell.







Chronology of the Life of Colin Campbell, Lord Clyde








	

1792




	

Born in Glasgow.









	

c. 1797




	

Attends Glasgow Grammar School. Mother dies.









	

1803




	

Attends Royal Naval and Military Academy, Gosport.









	

1808




	

26 May: Commissioned ensign in 9th Foot, without purchase.









	

	

21 August: Battle of Vimeiro.









	

1809




	

16 January: Battle of Corunna. Evacuated to Plymouth.









	

	

29 June: Promoted lieutenant, without purchase.









	

	

July–September: Walcheren Expedition.









	

	

December: Posted to Gibraltar.









	

1810




	

14 April: Posted to garrison at Tarifa.









	

	

15 September: Returns to Gibraltar.









	

1811




	

5 March: Battle of Barrosa.









	

	

Autumn: Appointed ADC to Spanish General Livesay.









	

1812




	

3 January: Arrives at very end of Siege of Tarifa.









	

1813




	

18 June: Action at Osma.









	

	

21 June: Battle of Vitoria.









	

	

17 July: Attack on convent of San Bartolomé.









	

	

25 July: Leads forlorn hope at first assault of San Sebastian. Wounded twice.









	

	

7 October: Passage of the Bidassoa. Wounded again.









	

	

9 November: Promoted captain in 7/60th, without purchase.









	

	

December: Returns to Britain.









	

1814




	

October: Joins regiment at Halifax, Nova Scotia.









	

1815




	

July: Returns to Britain.









	

	

Moves to South of France to recuperate.









	

1817




	

7/60th reduced. Transfers to 5/60th at Gibraltar.









	

1818




	

July: 5/60th reduced.









	

	

26 November: Campbell exchanges into 21st Royal North British Fusiliers.









	

1819




	

April: Sails for Caribbean.









	

	

May: Arrives in Barbados.









	

1821




	

March: Posted to Demerara.









	

1823




	

17 August: Slave revolt erupts.









	

1824




	

April: Murray replaced by D’Urban. Campbell remains as ADC.









	

1825




	

26 November: Promoted major, by purchase.









	

1826




	

Returns to Britain.









	

1827




	

January: 21st Fusiliers return from the West Indies and are posted to Windsor.









	

1828




	

Autumn: Regiment moves to Fermoy, Ireland.









	

1830




	

May: Regiment moves to Kilkenny.









	

	

Autumn: First stirrings of Tithe War.









	

1831




	

October: Regiment sails from Dublin to Liverpool.









	

1832




	

26 October: Gazetted lieutenant-colonel (unattached), by purchase.









	

1835




	

8 May: Gazetted lieutenant-colonel in the 9th Foot, without purchase.









	

	

19 June: Exchanges into 98th Foot.









	

1837




	

Summer: 98th arrives in Portsmouth.









	

1839




	

July: Moves with regiment to Newcastle.









	

	

30 July: ‘Battle of the Forth’.









	

1841




	

July: Regiment moves to Carlow. Campbell remains in London.









	

	

20 December: Sails with 98th on HMS Belleisle for China.









	

1842




	

21 July: Storming of Chinkiangfoo.









	

	

29 August: Treaty of Nankin.









	

	

1 November: Returns to Hong Kong.









	

	

December: Appointed Commandant.









	

	

Appointed Companion of the Order of the Bath. Promoted full colonel, without purchase, and aide-de-camp to the queen.









	

1844




	

January: Promoted brigadier, second class, and appointed Governor of Chusan.









	

1846




	

July: Chusan handed back to the Chinese. Campbell sails for India with 98th Foot.









	

	

24 October: Reaches Calcutta. Appointed Commandant of Fort William.









	

	

18 December: Marches with 98th to Dinapore.









	

1847




	

January: Appointed to command garrison at Lahore.









	

1848




	

April: Revolt at Mooltan.









	

	

November: Promoted brigadier-general.









	

	

22 November: Action at Ramnuggur.









	

	

3 December: Action at Sadoolapore.









	

1849




	

13 January: Battle of Chillianwala. Wounded twice.









	

	

21 February: Battle of Goojrat.









	

	

April: Appointed to command at Rawal Pindi.









	

	

5 June: Made Knight Commander of the Bath.









	

	

July: Troops at Rawal Pindi refuse pay.









	

	

29 November: Appointed to command at Peshawur.









	

1850




	

February: Punitive expedition to Kohat.









	

1851




	

October: Punitive expedition against Momunds.









	

1852




	

March: Further expeditions against Momunds and Ranizai.









	

	

May–June: More expeditions against Ranizai.









	

	

3 June: Resigns command at Peshawur.









	

1853




	

March: Reaches England.









	

1854




	

21 February: Promoted brigadier-general.









	

	

5 April: Leaves by paddle steamer for Turkey.









	

	

20 June: Promoted major-general.









	

	

14 September: Lands in the Crimea.









	

	

20 September: Battle of the Alma.









	

	

25 October: Battle of Balaklava.









	

1855




	

January: Granted local rank of lieutenant-general.









	

	

10 July: Made Knight Grand Cross of the Bath.









	

	

8 September: Fall of Sebastopol.









	

	

November: Resigns and returns to London.









	

	

December: Granted local rank of full general.









	

1856




	

14 February: Disembarks in the Crimea.









	

	

30 March: Treaty of Paris signed, ending the war.









	

	

10 May: Embarks for home.









	

	

4 June: Promoted lieutenant-general in the army.









	

1857




	

26 June: Officiates at first Victoria Cross award ceremony in Hyde Park.









	

	

11 July: Accepts post of commander-in-chief in India.









	

	

13 August: Lands in Calcutta.









	

	

12–17 November: Fights his way into and out of Lucknow. Wounded twice.









	

	

6 December: Battle of Cawnpore and defeat of the Gwalior Contingent.









	

1858




	

2 January: Wounded by spent ball at Kalee Nuddee.









	

	

6–9 March: Lucknow retaken.









	

	

5 May: Battle of Bareilly.









	

	

14 May: Promoted full general in the army.









	

	

3 August: Ennobled as Baron Clyde of Clydesdale.









	

	

1 November: 4th European Light Cavalry object to change of allegiance.









	

	

26 December: Injured after falling from horse.









	

1859




	

May: European regiments protest at lack of bounty for transfer of allegiance.









	

	

8 July: Canning declares sepoy revolt over.









	

	

October: Accompanies Canning on tour of India. Mobilises troops for China.









	

1860    




	

4 June: Leaves India.









	

	

25 June: Made Knight Commander of the Star of India.









	

1862




	

9 November: Promoted field marshal.









	

1863




	

14 August: Dies at Chatham.














Prologue





‘It is foolish and wrong to mourn the men who died. Rather, we should thank God that such men lived’


General George S. Patton Jr








‘Few persons connected his name with any thought of age or decline,’ declared the Glasgow Herald, ‘for there had been nothing of either in his public acts. Indeed, although he has passed away in the evening of his years, he is cut short in the noon of his fame and his powers.’1


Colin Campbell’s had requested a modest burial in Kensal Green Cemetery, a request typical of a frugal general who ‘found it more difficult to encounter the public thanks of his countrymen, than the batteries of the enemy’,2 but both army and government knew that the British public would not let him bow out that quietly. The clamour from the obituary writers for him to be interred in one of the great cathedrals was hard to resist, and so, with the queen’s blessing, the Secretary for War arranged a plot in Westminster Abbey with full honours. The funeral was scheduled for 22 August 1863.


Even before his death, praise had been effusive. ‘Sir Colin Campbell has, I believe, only one fault: a courage too reckless for his country’, declared Disraeli. ‘An union of personal valour so eminent, with strategy so prudent, has seldom been presented in the history of great military commanders.’3 When Campbell received an honorary degree from Oxford University, it was in the company of Isambard Kingdom Brunel and Dr David Livingstone. During a visit to his home town of Glasgow, the crowds were larger than any since the queen’s tour of the city seven years before.4 Staffordshire potteries produced figurines of him (see Plate 37), sheet music publishers put him on the covers of Scottish reels and tobacconists used his face to sell cigars. By his death there were more pubs in London named after him than Nelson.


If in England he was held up as the greatest soldier of his day, in his native Scotland he was elevated to demi-god. ‘One of the greatest generals whom Great Britain ever produced, and second to none in the advantages he has gained for his country’, claimed the Glasgow Herald:





Wellington did not exceed him in the combination of prudence in danger, with vigour in execution, by which he was distinguished. Like Marlborough he never fought a battle he did not gain, nor sat down before a place he did not take. The saviour of India may well take a place in British history, second only to the conqueror of Napoleon and the humbler of the pride of Louis XIV.5





Campbell’s achievements seemed all the more admirable given the apparent obscurity of his birth. ‘How great must have been the perseverance, the courage and the discretion of such a friendless and penniless boy to have raised himself to a peerage and to the Colonelcy of the Coldstream Guards, can be known only to those who understand the aristocratic traditions of the British army’, wrote the Daily News. ‘It needed more than forty years of arduous service, a Russian war, and a tottering empire before such a man could obtain promotion or a reasonable reward.’6 ‘If ever there was a peer who won name and nobility by sheer hard work’, wrote William Russell of The Times, ‘it was he.’7 But even as a peer he could still be a boat-rocker. ‘He was too independent to be a courtier; wrapped up only in his country … too single-hearted to be a political partisan’, as the Glasgow Herald diplomatically put it.8


That independent spirit had been a handicap. ‘To the “authorities” the career of Colin Campbell, Lord Clyde, stands forth as a flagrant scandal’, declared The Morning Post:





It is to be hoped that it may in future act as a useful warning. Not once in a career of fifty years did official patronage visit with common justice, still less with generosity, merits that were palpable to all besides. The advancement that was tardily and grudgingly meted out to him was even then always a degree in arrears. Such continuous blindness, or such persistent injustice at headquarters was incredible.9





The Daily News continued in similar vein:





Though he had contributed much to the victory of the Alma – though he had watched day and night the lines of Balaklava – though he had met the onset of the Russian horse with the famous ‘thin red line’, disdaining to throw his men into square – though he had proved himself the ablest officer who was left with the British army after the death of Lord Raglan, he was destined to be passed over by two men, who, however excellent as men of business, or as copious letter writers, were immeasurably his inferiors.10





Despite this alleged establishment conspiracy, Campbell ‘came out of the war with [an] untarnished reputation’, reported the Glasgow Herald, ‘and when we had to seek for a General equal to the great necessity of the Indian Mutiny, no voice hesitated to applaud the appointment of Sir Colin Campbell’.11


On the day of the funeral, crowds lined the streets ‘such as one would have seen on the occasion of a State funeral of the greatest in the land’, reported The Times:





There were those, no doubt, who were attracted solely by curiosity and by the desire to see a line of carriages and horses but besides, there stood in that people’s guard assembled to do honour to the soldier, many an old moustache who saluted as the hearse bore all that remained of the fiery centurion of the Peninsula and of the conqueror of India.12





Being late summer, the royal family were in the country, but the carriages of Queen Victoria, the Duke and Duchess of Cambridge, and the Prince of Wales, all in full mourning drapes, attended as proxies. Fourteen more carriages of mourners followed. Inside were the Duke of Wellington,* a marquess, three earls, one viscount, sundry military top brass and the editor of The Times. The Chancellor of the Exchequer, William Gladstone, sent his son to represent him. The renowned war correspondent, William Russell, who had accompanied Campbell through two campaigns, was despatched to cover the event.


Once the eulogies had been delivered, the strains of Purcell and Handel had died away and the sub-dean had finished speaking, the coffin was lowered into a vault in the nave, and this matter-of-fact epitaph placed on top:





Beneath this stone


Rest the remains of


Colin Campbell, Lord Clyde,


Who, by his own deserts,


Through fifty years of arduous service,


From the earliest battles in the Peninsular War


To the Pacification of India in 1858,


Rose to the rank of Field Marshal and the Peerage.


He died lamented


By the Queen, the army, and the people,


14th August 1863,


In the 71st year of his age





The question remains, how much truth lies beneath this tide of hyperbole?


Notes


*       The 2nd Duke of Wellington, son of Arthur Wellesley, the Iron Duke.
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1


Witness to War





‘We must recollect … what we have at stake, what it is we have to contend for. It is for our property, it is for our liberty, it is for our independence, nay for our existence as a nation; it is for our character, it is for our very name as Englishmen; it is for everything dear and valuable to man on this side of the grave’


William Pitt the Younger, House of Commons, 1803








The men of the 2nd Battalion, the 9th Foot, had been waiting, muskets primed, on the rise south of Vimeiro since before dawn but, since their enemy remained out of sight, they piled arms and scoured the undergrowth for firewood. The hillside was soon dotted with camp kettles boiling up beef for breakfast, while a few soldiers stripped off their sweat-stained shirts and rinsed them in the River Maceira flowing along the bottom of the valley.1 It was only a brief respite. At around 9 a.m. French infantry, in white rather than their usual blue,* could be seen approaching, their progress marked by a great dust plume rising through the heat haze.


Colin Campbell, second youngest ensign in the 2/9th, was a slight, wiry figure, his head a shade too big for his frame, the effect made worse by thick black curls. A determined brow compensated for the schoolboy air, but this officer’s most startling feature was his Glaswegian accent. Campbell had been in the army for barely a month, most of it spent on a naval transport. As an ensign he was tolerated rather than valued. Asked by a Portuguese general for an ensign to act as his aide-de-camp, the Duke of Wellington replied tartly, ‘An English ensign can be of little use to him – or to anybody else.’2


In battle the two youngest ensigns held the regimental colours: one flag each, around 6ft square supported on a 9ft pole. Around the ensigns stood four sergeants. As the ensigns’ job was to guard the colours, so the sergeants’ job was to guard the ensigns. ‘“Defend the colours! Form upon the colours!” is the first cry and first thought of a soldier when any mischance of battle has produced disorder,’ wrote Lieutenant-General Sir Charles Napier, ‘then do cries, shouts, firing, blows, and all the tumult of combat, thicken round the standard; it contains the honour of the band, and the brave press round its bearer!’3 At Albuera, Lieutenant Latham of the Buffs showed the tenacity required of an officer charged with them:
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Cleland, Jack, Paterson and Co.’s shop, from R. Chapman’s The Picture of Glasgow.





He was attacked by several French hussars, one of whom, seizing the staff and rising in his stirrups, aimed a stroke at Latham’s head, which failed at cutting him down, but which sadly mutilated him, severing one side of his face and nose; he still struggled with the hussar, and exclaimed ‘I will surrender it only with my life!’ A second stroke severed his left arm and hand, in which he held the staff, from his body. He then seized the staff in his right hand, throwing away his sword, and continued to struggle with his opponents, now increased in numbers; when ultimately thrown down, trampled upon and pierced by the spears of the Polish lancers, his last effort was to tear the flag from the staff, as he lay prostrate, and thrust it into the breast of his jacket.4





The 2/9th were formed up in open column, towards the rear of the hill, as a reserve. Raised in 1804, the battalion had been stationed in England since formation. Almost all were strangers to the battlefield. As the French drew nearer, a hail of enemy shot and shell rained down to soften them up before the main infantry assault. ‘A young soldier is much more alarmed at a nine pounder shot passing within 4 yards of his head than he is of a bullet at a distance of as many inches,’ observed one volunteer, ‘although one would settle him as effectively as the other.’5 The temptation to duck or ‘bob’ was almost irresistible and as round shot pitched over the heads of the men, one private reflexively ducked. ‘Who is that I see bobbing there? What are you bobbing about, sir?’ shouted an officer. ‘Let me see you bob again, sir and I’ll …’ but he was cut short as a cannon ball skimmed his hat and he succumbed to the same instinct. ‘Who is that I see bobbing about, sir?’ the men jeered, as the officer’s face turned ‘the colour of his coat’.*6


Amid the noise, Campbell heard his captain call his name. He ran over expectantly. The officer calmly led him by the hand towards the enemy, where the tang of black powder and the crackle of the French muskets grew stronger. In front of the battalion the captain walked him up and down for several minutes, while shot ploughed up the ground and whistled overhead. Campbell’s fear subsided a little. ‘It was the greatest kindness that could have been shown me at such a time, and through my life I have felt grateful for it.’7 He was just 15 years old.
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Campbell was, superficially at least, unlikely officer material. His parents, John and Agnes, had moved from Islay to Glasgow in the early 1790s as rising rents in the Highlands and Islands prompted mass emigration to the slums of Scotland’s central belt. While in Islay wages were below the Scottish average, in Glasgow they were as much as 50 per cent higher.8 It was a boom town full of magnates grown fat on the bottle, rope, leather goods, soap and pottery sweatshops in town; men who needed to buy their own furniture. John, a cabinetmaker, found employment with fashionable retailers Cleland, Jack, Paterson and Co., offering fine furniture in ‘three spacious saloons, each 100 by 25 feet’,9 at No. 81 Trongate, a fine example of Scots Ionic, in the mercantile heart of Glasgow (see Plate 1). He rented a house nearby and it was there on 20 October 1792 that his first son Colin was born, joined soon by a brother, John, and twin sisters, Alicia and Margery.


Victorian historians often described Colin’s father as a carpenter, perhaps to give him a pseudo-Messianic gloss, but there was a yawning gulf in skill and wages between a carpenter and a cabinetmaker. Among artisans, only stonemasons matched their wages. Cabinetmaking paid well enough for John in 1797 to enrol Colin in Mr Gibson’s class at the reputable and ancient Glasgow Grammar School. Fees of 6s per quarter, plus sixpence for coal,10 were a fraction of the cost of the grand public schools and well within the means of a cabinetmaker earning 20–30s a week. Outwardly modern, having just moved into new buildings, the school was still traditional, with a stress on the classics and grammar. Like all archaic schools, Glasgow Grammar cultivated its eccentricities, the feudal Candlemas Offering principal among them. Each February, on Candlemas Day, every boy presented a gift to his teacher in front of the rest of the school. ‘The most usual present was a quarter’s wages, or seven shillings and sixpence, commonly paid in three half crowns,’ recalled one alumnus, ‘but many of the scholars gave only five shillings, and some of them merely two shillings and sixpence; indeed there were some boys whose parents were unable to give their sons even the last mentioned pittance to present, to the sad humiliation of the poor little fellows.’11 Some humbled their teachers by giving their gift in farthings, dropped one by one into their outstretched hands. Hugh Houston, the son of a slave trader, produced a single golden guinea. The pupil displaying the greatest largesse was declared King or Victor.12 It implanted in Colin a keen desire to free himself from material subservience.
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The site of Glasgow Grammar School from 1788 to 1821, at 294 George Street. (Courtesy of the High School of Glasgow)





Before the age of 10, Colin, ‘a very quiet pensive boy’,13 suffered the double blow of the deaths of his mother and his sister Margery, leaving him with a lifelong need to prepare for the worst together with a powerful feeling of responsibility towards his surviving sister, Alicia. Now with no wife, three children to feed and a full-time job, John placed his eldest son in the care of his brother-in-law, Major John Campbell.* With his uncle’s patronage, the boy’s horizons broadened considerably. This side of Colin’s family was really rather grand, but his mother Agnes had been the product of an affair. Agnes’s mother, Alice Campbell, had married Henry Campbell, Laird of Knockamellie, with whom she had two children, Duncan and Hester. Alice then left all three of them, and without waiting for divorce, eloped and married Colin Campbell of Ardnave, with whom she had a further four children, including Agnes and Major John Campbell.** Agnes’s decision to marry a cabinetmaker may have distanced her from her gentry forebears even more than the bigamous marriage of her parents. At the same time, on Agnes’s side of the family there seemed to be feelings of guilt or, at the very least, responsibility towards Colin, hence the patronage of Major Campbell. Moreover, Agnes’s family had a proud history to maintain. The blood of the earls of Argyll flowed in her veins and her roots stretched back to royalty. Colin could trace his ancestry back through sixteen generations to Robert the Bruce.***


In 1806, Major Campbell plucked Colin from Glasgow and placed him in the progressive, reformist Royal Academy in Gosport, the ‘highly regarded respectable academy in Cold Harbour, under the direction of William Burney … where young gentlemen are educated for the navy, and army, public offices and the university’.14 It was a brutal decision. Colin found his old family ties all but severed. Meanwhile, the advantages of a modern education were by no means clear. As the United Services Journal put it, ‘the sympathies of the aristocracy were in favour of the unlettered … to be ill-educated was highbred; knowledge was pedantic and vulgar’.15 The British army was unconvinced by specialist technical training. The only schooling required of an officer was basic literacy, and Colin had already mastered that in Glasgow.


Founded in 1791, the Royal Academy was a product of the Age of Reason. The curriculum included natural philosophy and practical mathematics, and it even boasted its own observatory. It was here that Campbell’s preference for professionally trained officers over the army’s traditional gifted amateurs had its genesis.16 Perhaps just as important as the subjects studied, were the boys studying there: a select group of around eighty pupils, providing an entry into the old boy network. Fee payers included a high proportion of colonels, majors, and captains from both services, not to mention the Bishop of Clogher, at least one MP and Admiral Lord Nelson, no less.**** Over the next hundred years Prince Alfred (the future Duke of Edinburgh), George V, Prince Henry of Prussia, Admiral Earl Beatty and General Sir Sam Browne would all study there.


Campbell had been in Gosport only two years when on 26 May 1808, just five months before his sixteenth birthday, he was commissioned into the 9th Foot. Officers could join the Royal Navy at 11 and as recently as 1806 Campbell’s regiment had recruited a drummer boy aged just 7,***** but for army officers a new official minimum age of 16 had just been introduced by the commander-in-chief, the Duke of York. However, in an army that failed to perform the most basic checks, the minimum age rule was easily sidestepped. Dr James Barry was commissioned in 1813 as a hospital assistant aged just 13, rose all the way to Inspector General of the Army, and it was only on his death in 1865 that it was discovered that he was really a woman.17


In any case, Horse Guards could not afford to apply the rules too stringently. As the army expanded to meet the threat from Napoleon, so there was an expanding demand for officers. This meant diluting the old, aristocratic officer class with outsiders from a more ambiguous social milieu, the majority drawn from the gentry, the burgeoning middle classes and, despite the misgivings of the high command, one in twenty from the ranks. Campbell’s commission was the result of this accidental, embryonic meritocracy.


Horse Guards set the cost of an ensigncy at £400, but with the advent of war, promotion by purchase fell out of favour. Why pay for a promotion, when an officer might receive it for free if his colonel were shot tomorrow? And so as vacancies proliferated, the number of officers willing to pay for them shrank, allowing Campbell, like four out of five ensigns during the Peninsular War, to get his commission ‘without purchase’.18


Choice of regiment was everything. The most socially exclusive regiments monopolised staff posts and provided the lion’s share of the generals. Though not the smartest corps, the 9th Foot was by no means infra dig. Commanding were Lieutenant-Colonel Cameron, an Old Etonian, and Lieutenant-Colonel Stewart, the son of Lord Blantyre. Viscount Ebrington and the Hon. William Curzon (second son of Lord Scarsdale) had both served in the 9th, and Colonel of the Regiment was the army’s quartermaster-general, the influential Lieutenant-General Robert Brownrigg. At the same time, the 9th, ‘that serviceable regiment that had so many times distinguished themselves in their king and country’s cause’,19 was a lot easier on the pocket than the Guards or the cavalry, where an officer was expected to maintain a certain lifestyle and a certain mess bill. In the infantry the cost of uniform and kit was around £50. In the cavalry it could be £500 or more.


In late March 1808, Captain Cornwall, the 9th Foot’s youngest captain, died, giving everyone the chance to move up a rung. Godwin, a lieutenant for five years, took Cornwall’s captaincy. Ensign Shepherd was promoted to lieutenant in Godwin’s place and so, at the bottom, a vacancy appeared. ‘I have been applied to by Captain Campbell of the 9th Regt. who is a very deserving officer, to recommend his Relation* Mr Colin Campbell for an Ensigncy in the Regt.’ Brownrigg told the commander-in-chief’s military secretary on 19 May, ‘He represents Him to be in all respects Eligible.’20 A week later Campbell was gazetted. In return for his services, he received 5s 3d per diem, which, once eroded by the new income tax and sundry deductions, left him with around 4s.21 The cost of three meals a day in the officers’ mess alone was 4s 3d.22 For an ‘honourable youth who will not spend a farthing beyond that which is necessary to maintain him in a respectable appearance’, as Campbell described himself, ‘still the pay of an ensign is not sufficient’.23 At 15 he was earning as much as his father but already living beyond his means. On the plus side, in wartime an ensign could expect to rise fast with the minimum of expense; the bloodier the campaign, the swifter the promotion.
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By 1807 Napoleon’s tyranny of Europe stretched from the Pyrenees to the Baltic. Portugal, one of Britain’s few remaining allies, remained independent, so, in October 1807, Bonaparte had despatched his young general Jean-Andoche Junot with 25,000 men to subdue her. Junot marched unhindered through Spain and took Lisbon, unopposed, on 30 November. To consolidate his hold on the peninsula, next spring Napoleon foisted his brother Joseph on the Spanish throne. It proved a step too far. While Junot was still in Lisbon, behind him Spain rose up in rebellion. Here was the perfect moment for a British foray to defeat the French in Portugal, hemmed in by a mutinous Spain. As Richard Sheridan told the House of Commons, ‘I am convinced … there never existed so happy an opportunity for Great Britain to strike a bold stroke for the rescue of the world.’24


The British government massed battalions on the south coast, among them the 2/9th, and mobilised troops in Ireland, including the first battalion of the 9th. Lieutenant-General Sir John Moore’s army, returning from Sweden, was also earmarked for Portugal. Appointed to command the invasion force was the young Sir Arthur Wellesley. A slight 5ft 10in tall, but broad at the shoulders, he was ‘the greyhound rather than the mastiff breed’.25 Cool, brusque and impatient, it was easy to think there was no feeling in that poor dead heart but occasionally the mask slipped; a tribute from Castlereagh brought tears to his eyes.26 Though Wellesley’s star was very much in the ascendant after an adroit campaign in India, the British press was agnostic. As The Examiner put it, Wellesley had so far only beaten ‘oppressed Indians, whose defeat does little honour to the skill of a general’.27


On 14 July, seven weeks after his commission, Campbell, kicking his heels on the Isle of Wight, received instructions to proceed instantly to join his regiment, under orders for embarkation. He set off post-haste, reaching the 9th Foot’s barracks in Canterbury by the 17th. Usual practice was for a new ensign to watch the men drill and practise for four hours a day, every day for six months.28 Campbell had just three days to familiarise himself with the officers, the men, their equipment and their expectations of an ensign, before he was thrust into a troopship bound for Portugal. Fortunately the 9th had a trio of veteran ensigns to guide him – Thompson, Newenham and Sutton – officers content to watch others promoted over them.**


Foul weather and contrary winds slowed their progress. A journey that could take as little as eight days took a month. By 17 August Campbell’s ship was lying off the Berling Rocks. Two days later he disembarked at the mouth of the Maceira. Commissary Schaumann described the dramatic landing:





With beating hearts we approached the first line of surf, and were lifted high in the air. We clung frantically to our seats, and all of us had to crouch quite low. There were twenty to thirty British sailors on the shore, all quite naked, who, the moment the foremost breakers withdrew, dashed like lightning into the surf, and after many vain efforts, during which they were often caught up and thrown back by the waves, at last succeeded in casting a long rope to us, which we were able to seize. Then with a loud hurrah, they ran at top speed through the advancing breakers up the beach, dragging us with them, until the boat stuck fast, and there was only a little spray from the surf to wet us. Finally, seizing a favourable opportunity, when a retreating wave had withdrawn sufficiently far, each of them took a soldier on his back, and carried him thus on to the dry shore.29





The French were nowhere to be seen. Campbell climbed the steep path in the tall cliff, past the old abandoned fort, to the broad heath beyond. That night he slept under the stars for the first time in his life.30 ‘The firmament spread its boundless expanse over our heads, without one cloud to obscure its twinkling brilliancy,’ recalled a physician in the same brigade, ‘while the remote horizon gleamed with the fires of the British camp, exciting many singular and thrilling emotions.’31


The expectation of a few days’ peace while supplies were landed was dispelled by news that Wellesley was only a couple of miles away, pressed by the French, and relying on these fresh troops to drive back the enemy. Junot was anxious to finish with Wellesley before he was reinforced, and thus throttle the British invasion before it made any headway. Campbell’s battalion was to head immediately to Vimeiro, where Wellesley had deployed the rest of his army. Leading them was Lieutenant-Colonel John Cameron, a product of privilege and the living vindication of the ancien régime in the army. His record was unimpeachable and his mixture of stern discipline and sympathy with the rank and file became Campbell’s blueprint for command. That he was a Scotsman must have helped. The men called him ‘the Devil’. ‘That, sir, was a compliment of which any man might be proud,’ wrote Campbell, ‘and which I should prefer to the most elaborate epitaph on my tomb.’32


Wellesley, scholar of battlefield topography, had placed the bulk of his men behind a ridge which led inland eastwards from the sea before curving north-east. This ridge was bisected by the River Maceira. On its banks nestled the village of Vimeiro, now deserted. A little to the south was an isolated hill where Wellesley had positioned his baggage train. Scarcely more than a gentle rise, 160ft above sea level at its crown with a depression in the middle, and topped with two windmills,33 it was to be the crux of the battle. Wellesley predicted that Junot would head for the hill and then advance down the valley. If correct, this would leave Campbell in the middle of the French attack.


The 633 men of 2/9th were in position on the rise by 6 a.m.34 Nearby, Campbell could see six British guns at the ready while down the slope the undergrowth swarmed with riflemen waiting for the French to get close enough for them to chance a shot. When, at around 9 a.m., Campbell saw the dust cloud indicating the enemy, it looked like Junot was acting as Wellesley had predicted. French tirailleurs (skirmishers) were drawing near. Behind marched Junot’s infantry columns, ready to open fire, before breaking into a roaring charge. With convenient hubris, Junot was confident he could dislodge Wellesley’s battalions with a minimum of effort. The British riflemen had begun a deliberate and unhurried retreat up the hill, tempting the two French columns under Generals Charlot and Thomières to follow, towards the waiting 52nd and 97th Foot. The 2/9th remained behind the right flank of the 97th, close enough for Campbell to hear the musket balls whistling past. As their enemy approached, the British artillery on top of the hill opened fire. Each gun had been double-shotted with a cannonball and canister on top. ‘At every discharge a complete lane was cut through the column from front to rear by the round shot,’ recalled one officer, ‘whilst the canister was committing dreadful carnage on the foremost ranks.’35 Still the French marched on. The first force to engage Charlot’s column was the 97th, who had been hiding in a dip in the ground. They waited until the French were within 150 yards, and then, as one, rose and fired. A couple of volleys sent the enemy into retreat. Joined by the 52nd, the 97th charged down the hill, forcing the French back half a mile into a wood, at which point their brigade commander, General Anstruther, worried that they had overplayed their hand, despatched an aide-de-camp to stop them.36
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Lieutenant-Colonel John Cameron, from Loraine Petre’s The History of the Norfolk Regiment.





Meanwhile, French cavalry had been sighted riding round the hill towards the 2/9th. To repel them Cameron ordered his battalion to form a square,* their muskets pointing outwards. As the enemy rode past, the companies in front fired in succession.37 It was enough to discourage the French. The 2/9th had fired their first shots in anger.


Thomières’s column now headed for the 50th Foot, the French officers brandishing their swords and shouting ‘En avant, mes amis!’ Despite their numerical inferiority, the 50th held their nerve, firing a disciplined volley, followed by a headlong, hot-blooded charge which so surprised the French that they turned and fled, their white smocks giving the ‘the appearance of an immense flock of sheep scampering away from the much-dreaded shepherd’s dog’.38 Vimeiro Hill was safe (see Plate 3).
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Junot still had his reserve grenadiers and now ordered them forward to storm the village of Vimeiro. Two companies of the 43rd Foot occupied the houses on the edge of the village before the French could get to them. There then followed a vicious and close-fought struggle, focused appropriately enough on the graveyard. The French were beaten back but at a cost of 119 British casualties.


The troops Junot had sent north to attack Wellesley’s flank met with a similar fate. General Solignac found four British battalions opposing him. Faced with the mute advance of cold steel, the French crumbled. Momentarily discomfited by a second onslaught under General Brennier, the British soon steadied themselves and forced their enemy to retire. Both enemy brigades were broken.


The French had grown used to crushing their enemies with the brute bulk of their columns. As Andrew Roberts put it, Vimeiro was the first notable occasion when ‘what in the Crimean War became known as the “thin red line” held firm against an oncoming column of French infantry’.39 On that hill, Ensign Campbell saw at close quarters the power of a line of infantry, confident in its own solidity. So sure was Major-General Sir Colin Campbell of British resolve at Balaklava forty-six years later, he did not even bother forming a square in the face of an enemy cavalry charge. Campbell’s Highlanders, that ‘thin red streak topped with steel’, became the model of military implacability.


All that was left to set the seal on victory was for Wellesley to put Junot to flight. On the hill south of Vimeiro, Campbell prepared to march. After having experienced nothing more than a brush with French cavalry, here was an opportunity to face Bonaparte’s men at close quarters. The 2/9th had only light casualties and was eager to prove itself. Campbell watched as an ADC rode up and handed General Anstruther new orders. The contents came as a shock. ‘We were ordered to halt, and were not permitted to advance any more that day, which caused a great murmuring among the army’, wrote Private Hale of the 9th:





As Sir Arthur Wellesley was riding up and down in front of our brigade, the men loudly called out to him, from one end of the line to the other saying, ‘Let us advance! Let us advance! The enemy is in great confusion!’ But his answer was ‘I have nothing to do with it – I have no command.’





Having arrived in Maceira Bay the night before, Wellesley’s senior, Lieutenant-General Sir Harry Burrard, had chosen that moment to ride up and take command. Concerned by his lack of cavalry and the muddled state of supplies, Burrard ordered that there was to be no further advance. All the men of the 2/9th could do was settle down and cook their lunch.40


Next day, the British agreed to a French offer of a negotiated peace. The result, the ‘Convention of Cintra’, threw away the advantage so hard won at Vimeiro. On reading it, the Secretary of State for War, Viscount Castlereagh, declared, ‘It is a base forgery somewhere, and nothing can induce me to believe it is Genuine’,41 but by the time it reached him it was too late to do anything about it. Under its terms, Junot’s troops were free to leave Portugal, in the style of conquering heroes, drums beating, pipes playing, colours raised and bayonets fixed,42 embarking on the same transport ships that had carried the British to Portugal just weeks before. Once safely back in France, most were hurriedly marched back to the Peninsula. They could even take their baggage with them. The French interpreted ‘baggage’ as broadly as possible. They started two mints to melt pilfered church plate into untraceable specie, and had to be forcibly prevented from removing two state carriages belonging to the Duke of Sussex. For chutzpah colossal even by the standards of the French Empire, Junot took the prize: as well as £25,000 from the Portuguese treasury, he looted souvenirs including a bible from the royal library worth £3,500.43 The British refused his demand for five vessels to carry his spoils, offering only a single frigate. Unruffled, Junot insisted on a ship of the line. When it was explained to him that the Duke of York travelled by frigate, Junot retorted that the duke only commanded the army of a king while he led the legions of an emperor.44 The Royal Navy was unmoved and he had to put up with the frigate.
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The government in England was still bullish about the situation in the Peninsula. Their ultimate aim was not just to rid Portugal of the French but, in alliance with rebels and remnants of the Spanish army, expel them from the peninsula altogether. Wellesley’s victory at Vimeiro encouraged the British to press the thorn into Napoleon’s side once more. Castlereagh requested Sir Hew Dalrymple, supreme British commander in Portugal, to prepare troops to assist the Spanish. Instead the army atrophied, so on 6 October dispatches arrived from London granting General Sir John Moore 20,000 men, two cavalry regiments, and a generous artillery contingent to invade Spain, distract the French, and alleviate pressure on the Spanish insurgents.45


The 47-year-old Moore was a general ahead of his time. He placed great faith in the individual British soldier, convinced that he was capable of more than just robotic adherence to military manuals. For him the infantrymen’s initiative was an untapped resource. Moore had put his ideas into practice at a new camp for light infantry at Shorncliffe, where officers and men trained together. A paternal attitude towards the rank and file was encouraged among the officers, gaining Moore popularity among the men. As one soldier observed, ‘Although he never had the good fortune of doing anything or of having an opportunity of doing anything famous, yet he was always looked upon as our best general.’46 A generation of officers embraced Moore’s new philosophy, including Lieutenant-Colonel Cameron and Campbell’s future patron, Charles Napier. Campbell himself became a convert. Forty years later, he attributed the excellence of his own 98th Foot to ‘the attention of the officers to their duty, in their looking after the wants of their men, in their care to procure for the soldier all to which he was entitled, and in sharing in every duty of every kind which the soldier was called on to perform’,47 as good a précis as any of Moore’s credo (see Plate 2).


Three days after receiving his instructions, Moore announced his intention to march on Spain. The blistering summer heat had given way to a cool autumn, ideal for campaigning. His troops would split into four divisions and advance separately. Lieutenant-Colonel Cameron and Campbell had been transferred to the 9th Foot’s first battalion, which would take the most northerly route. Progress was leisurely, but by 23 November they had reached Salamanca.48 Tempted by the town’s fleshpots, and unpaid for five months, the men badgered Cameron for an advance. He refused. They then appealed directly to Moore, who granted them all wages owed, bar 10s.49 It set a dangerous precedent, breaking the unwritten covenant that the officer class should always preserve the appearance of concord. It betrayed the flaw in Moore’s personality, that sometimes his need for approval clouded his judgement.
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Moore, however, had more pressing concerns. With British troops now on Spanish soil, Napoleon had crossed the Pyrenees to ensure no further backsliding on the part of his brother, King Joseph. Moore’s little adventure had brought the might of the French Empire down on his head. News that Bonaparte had wrested Madrid from the Spanish rebels persuaded Moore to limit his offensive to a raid on Valladolid, and then to head back to the coast before Napoleon could mobilise his cumbersome battalions. To this end, on 11 December, the 1/9th left Salamanca in a column bearing down on Valladolid from the left. A second column would close in from the right. They had not got far when Moore received enemy despatches revealing the existence of a French army under General Jean-de-Dieu Soult, separated and vulnerable. Moore decided he should ignore Valladolid and instead swing north to attack Soult.


Eight days and several wearisome marches later, Moore had nearly caught his quarry. Encouraged by a successful raid on Soult’s cavalry at Sahagun on 20 December, he prepared for battle. At 7 p.m. on the 23rd, the drums beat, the 1/9th stood to arms and Campbell’s battalion began a 2-league march, to be in position for battle the next morning. Snow masked the road. Cold, famished and irritable, they did not reach their destination until midnight. It was a wasted journey. Unbeknownst to Campbell, Moore’s plans had been thrown into disarray before the 9th had even started out. Napoleon had left Madrid to ring down the curtain on Britain’s military pretensions on the Continent. Moore abandoned his offensive altogether and headed for the coast.


Campbell’s men were infuriated: ‘No honour had we gained, and the enemy about three to one’, complained Private Hale. ‘All that we could do was to turn our backs to them, and get away in the best manner we could.’50 But however mutable Moore’s tactics appeared, they had proved effective. He had enticed Napoleon out of Madrid at the head of a prodigious army on a wild goose chase into Galicia, giving the beleaguered Spanish rebels a breathing space. Of course, the subtleties of his method were lost on an army who just wanted a crack at the ‘parley vous’.


The weather was against Moore. On the first day of the retreat the temperature rose, thawing the dirt road and turning it to a muddy soup. French handbills, assuring the locals that they came as liberators, littered the way. The British trod them into the mud and used them for more practical purposes. Two days after Campbell started out, the heavens opened and stayed open all day, leaving the men wet through and miserable.51 At Benavente they halted for a day to allow supplies and ammunition to catch up. The French were not far behind and, anxious to leave nothing useful for Napoleon, Moore ordered the town’s carts and carriages destroyed. This quickly degenerated into wanton vandalism and looting, abetted by junior officers,52 as troops smashed anything of beauty just for the pleasure of it – something Campbell would see repeated in Belgium, China, Russia and India, and which would leave him a wealthy old man.


The two regiments billeted at the Duchess of Ossuna’s castle, ‘one of the finest monuments of the age of chivalry’,53 ran riot. According to one soldier, ‘Everything that would burn was converted into fuel, and even fires were placed against the walls that they might last longer and burn better. Many of our men slept all night wrapt in rich tapestry which had been torn down to make bed clothes.’54 The Reverend James Ormsby saw ‘pictures of high value heaped together as rubbish … destined to the flames!’55 The officers seemed unable or unwilling to intervene: ‘Insubordination was already apparent among the men, and in spite of all the discipline, it was impossible to stop it in an army which already felt that it was retreating from a country it hated’,56 as one commissary wrote. After the British left, the duchess had just enough time to count the cost of the damage before the French stormed the castle and promptly burnt it to the ground.


Moore responded with an extraordinary general order. ‘The misbehaviour of the troops in the column … exceeds what he would have believed of British soldiers – it is disgraceful to their Officers, as it strongly marks their negligence and inattention’, he stormed. ‘When it is proper to fight a battle, he will do it, and he will chuse [sic] the time and the place he thinks most fit’, he declared in response to demands that he should stand and fight. ‘In the mean time, he begs the officers and men of the army to attend diligently to discharge THEIR parts, and to leave to HIM, with the General Officers, the decision of measures which belong to them alone.’57 When a commander feels the need to issue such an injunction, matters are already well past mending.


At Astorga the British found stockpiles of food, muskets, blankets and a welcome cache of shoes.* Campbell’s pair were fast disintegrating. The pack animals were going lame as fast as the soldiers, and without carriage the prospects for a lame officer were bleak. Unfortunately, due to a bureaucratic error, rather than distributing the shoes, most were burnt instead. Moore ordered the town’s plentiful stores of rum poured away, but as officers stove in the barrels, soldiers knelt in the gutters, ‘laving up the mud and rum together’, then ‘drank, or rather, ate, the swinish mixture’.58


Drunk soldiers risked more than just a flogging. At Bembibre, as French dragoons closed in, the rear guard had to leave them behind. A British cavalry officer described one man caught by the enemy: ‘When the covering was removed from his face, it presented the most shocking spectacle I ever beheld. It was impossible to distinguish a single feature. The flesh of his cheeks and lips was hanging in collops; his nose was slit and his ears, I think, were cut off.’59 He was still alive, so the officer let him sit by the fire. As he watched, the man reached out and raked the glowing embers towards him with his bare hands, his fingers too frostbitten to feel the hot coals.


With the French snapping at his heels, on 5 January 1809, Moore ordered a thirty-six hour forced march. For men sapped of morale, weak from hunger and robbed of the chance to face their enemy, it was torture. One soldier recorded:





There was nothing to sustain our famished bodies or shelter them from the rain or snow. We were either drenched with rain or crackling with ice. Fuel we could find none. The sick and wounded that we had been still enabled to drag with us in the wagons were now left to perish in the snow. The road was one line of bloody foot-marks from the sore feet of the men; and on its sides lay the dead and the dying.60





The draught animals were dropping like flies. There were no horses left to pull the bullion carts, so Moore ordered £25,000 in coins to be thrown over a cliff.61 That at least distracted and delayed the enemy.


In Lugo, Campbell got two days’ rest. The 1/9th were ‘in a miserable dirty condition, not having our clothes off for about six weeks’,62 and with no bread in the town had to make do with 1lb of flour each. Four hundred of the remaining scrag-end of pack animals were slaughtered. The streets were filled with carcases ‘swelling with the rain, putrefying, bursting and poisoning the atmosphere faster than the dogs and vultures could devour them’.


Next morning ten soldiers from each company were ordered to hunt for firewood. The pickings were slim, so Campbell helped supervise as the men tore down houses so they could retrieve timber from the rubble. Throughout the ranks ran one constant refrain, that they would rather stop and fight than die in the snow, but Moore saw no hope of beating the French with the men in their current state, and instead determined to press on to the coast. So after just a few hours in front of the fire, Campbell received orders to move at midnight.63


The march from Lugo was the most costly leg of the journey. Campbell’s battalion lost half its strength, mainly from straggling.64 The men were exhausted, hungry and disheartened. Discipline had all but disappeared. Rounding on a soldier bent on plunder, George Napier found a rifle levelled at his head. Fortunately it misfired. Napier later wrote:





I ought to have shot him with my pistol on the instant, or to have brought him a prisoner to the Commander-in-Chief, who would have ordered him to be shot, but I felt a dislike to have a fellow creature put to death on my account … had I got that fellow shot, as he richly deserved, it would have been a great means of restoring discipline to the army, and might have frightened many soldiers from committing such crimes, and saved many a man’s life being taken by the enraged peasants, or being cut down or made prisoners by the enemy’s cavalry.65





By 10 January they had reached Betanzos, just a short distance from the port of Corunna. To restore some semblance of order, Moore halted for stragglers. Of the 1/9th, initially only sixty soldiers could be found. Campbell and the other remaining officers herded together every man they could find into a roadside chapel.66 Many were scarcely able to take another step. Some could only crawl. The lack of shoes meant that ‘hundreds of men and officers came into Betanzos bare-footed, their feet swelled and frost-bitten, and the flesh torn and bleeding by the granite and quartz pebbles’.67 Losses were concentrated in the most shambolic regiments. When the final figures were collated, Campbell’s battalion had suffered more than any other except the notorious 6th Foot. On its own the 1/9th chalked up 100 more casualties than the whole of the cavalry (more than 3,000 strong) put together, even though the cavalry spent much of the retreat fighting off the French. The accounts left by the officers of the 1/9th, Gomm, Hale, Le Mesurier and Campbell, give no inkling.


The worst, at least, was over. Now the British were through the mountains, things were looking up. Food was reaching them from Corunna. The genial coastal climate restored morale. Most importantly of all, they were only a few miles from Corunna, and rescue. Moore had already requested Castlereagh send ships, so in Corunna bay would be a fleet waiting to evacuate them. As one captain recalled, ‘Whenever we gained the summit of a hill, all eyes were on the watch to catch a glimpse of the long looked-for ships.’68


Campbell cut a sorry figure as he limped into Corunna after dark on the night of 11 January. He had survived, which was more than could be said for his shoes, but among troops in ‘such tattered rags as merely mocked their nakedness’.69 His uniform, costing six months’ pay, was ruined, and compensation would be a long time coming and trifling when it did arrive. As Campbell watched the dregs of an army trickle into town, everywhere adversity was the blindfold leveller. ‘There goes three thousand a year’, men jeered at Guards officers swaddled in nothing but rough blankets.70


Next morning, as the sun rose, the view out to sea was chilling. As one soldier put it, ‘Nothing was to be discovered but the wide waste of water’,71 and without ships they had no means of escape. Moore’s original request for transports to the admiral at Vigo had never arrived. His army was cornered. ‘My position in front of this place is a very bad one’, he confessed to Castlereagh. ‘Corunna, if I am forced to retire into it, is commanded by high ground within musket shot. In that case the harbour will be so commanded by cannon on the coast that no ship will be able to lay in it.’72 The locals shared his pessimism and as the British entered town, thousands of refugees headed in the opposite direction.


But when the 14th dawned the lookouts in Corunna’s Roman lighthouse noticed a fuzzy mass on the horizon. After a while it started to sharpen into individual shapes. They were men-of-war, the Victory and Audacious among them. Five days before, an exhausted galloper had reached Vigo with a second rain-spattered note from Moore, demanding all ships sail for Corunna. Adverse winds prevented the departure of the transports, but the warships managed to make it out of the harbour. By the 11th the weather had improved enough for the 300 transports to follow. As the warships anchored in Corunna, the transports, which had closed the gap, began to appear on the horizon and in a few hours the harbour was packed. Moore ordered the injured, the sick, the cavalry and all but nine guns aboard. Campbell sifted through the remnants of the battalion, sending those too weak to fight down to the quay. The rest were billeted in a convent in town, where they were fortified with Royal Navy salt beef and pork, and bread and wine from the Spanish. Corunna was well stocked with materiel so while the French still suffered the shortages they had endured throughout their long pursuit, Campbell’s men had new muskets and cartridges.73


The next day the French occupied the Penasquedo ridges a few miles south of town. Napoleon’s rivals were plotting against him in Paris, while the Austrians were preparing for war, so the emperor had delegated Moore’s destruction to Soult, the ‘Hand of Iron’. Commanding the high ground with forty guns and an army 20,000 strong, Soult had the advantage. Nevertheless, the 15th came and went and still there was no sign of a French offensive. Campbell spent the morning of the 16th overseeing repairs to the town walls, strengthening batteries and repairing ramparts.74 The townspeople helped, encouraged by the Spanish governor who roamed the streets, belabouring any locals he found idle.75 It was early afternoon when Campbell heard the first musket shot crack across the valley. He ordered the men to stop what they were doing, fetch their weapons and gather at their alarm post.
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A little before two o’clock Soult began his assault. Whatever qualms Moore may have had about his troops’ resolve, French fire acted like a tonic. Towards the western end of the British lines, fighting was concentrated around the village of Elvina, the British pitching in with obstinate ferocity and forcing the French back gradually through the narrow streets. Moore brought the Guards up to finish the job, but as he led them forward, the Black Watch in front hesitated. Moore rode ahead to rally them, conspicuous on a fiery-tempered cream horse with a distinctive black mane and tail. As he spurred the men on, a French cannonball caught him on the left shoulder, knocking him from his saddle. ‘The ball had carried away his left breast, broken two ribs, shattered the shoulder, and the arm was scarcely attached to it.’76 Still conscious but failing fast, Moore was manhandled back to Corunna. Command devolved upon Major-General Sir Alexander Hope.


After their behaviour on the retreat, Moore had been loath to rely on the 1/9th, so they were deployed a little way outside town to guard the coast road and be ready as reinforcements, if required.77 Campbell’s view of the battle to the south was obscured by the gunsmoke filling the plain, but in Corunna every tower, church spire and ship’s mast swarmed with spectators.78 The correspondent of The Times, lunching at a hotel in town, asked one of the waiters what all the fuss was about. When he heard battle had commenced, he pondered whether to get a ringside seat, but decided to finish his meal first.79


Soult ordered his cavalry round to the west to attack Moore’s flank and cut off his retreat to Corunna, but General Sir Edward Paget’s troops advanced to stop them and slowly rolled them back. More French cavalry under General Franceschi were descending on Corunna itself, but having watched the offensive against Paget collapse, Franceschi decided to withdraw. The British had beaten off Soult’s flanking manoeuvre, stopped the enemy at Elvina and, at the east end of the line, at the village of Piedralonga, had prevented Soult from making a decisive breakthrough. As night fell it was clear any prospect of outright French victory had perished.


Having not fired a shot, the 1/9th were dragooned into helping the injured, until at 9 p.m. they were ordered back to their convent.80 An hour later the rest of the battlefield survivors began to stagger into town ‘all in tatters, hollow-eyed, and covered with blood and filth’,81 as the navy quietly resumed the embarkation under the cover of darkness. With luck, the battle had bought them enough time to escape. The great worry was the French guns. If Soult realised his enemy had pulled back, he would bring up his artillery and shell the town, so the British lit bonfires on the Monte Mero to maintain the charade that they still manned the lines, and allow the boats time enough to complete the evacuation.82


Morning revealed the truth and Soult rapidly redeployed his artillery to bombard Corunna. Frightening though they were, the French guns were too high up to cause much damage to the ships below. All that day troops were steadily stowed aboard as enemy artillery thundered overhead. Shot punched through the roof of the building where the remainder of Campbell’s battalion was sheltering, but no one was hurt. Perhaps as punishment, it fell to the 1/9th to form part of the rear guard that evening and fend off the French while the last men were rowed away. They had one other task to perform: to bury Sir John Moore. Born in Trongate, Glasgow, Moore was an old boy of the Grammar School like Campbell and had been gazetted underage. More than a century later, when his alma mater decided to name four houses after illustrious alumni, they chose Moore and two prime ministers (Bonar Law and Campbell Bannerman). The fourth was named after the ensign who stood watching as his general was laid to rest.
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Steel engraving of the Battle of Corunna from Album de vingt batailles de la Révolution et de l’Empire. (Courtesy of www.albion-prints.com)





By the time Moore’s body was being interred, very nearly the entire army had embarked and still the French had not stormed the town. Campbell remained guarding the ramparts until 10 p.m., when the 1/9th was ordered down to the quay to board the last boats. Corunna was shrouded in a thick mist, with an eerie glow where one suburb had been set on fire by the French bombardment.83 Just as the men were vaulting into the boats, locals appeared, shouting and beckoning. Three houses full of wounded British soldiers had been overlooked. Forty of the 1/9th were sent into town to bring them out. ‘This task was a very fatiguing one,’ complained Private Hale, ‘being full a quarter of a mile to carry the men, and having no convenience for so doing, except on our backs, or in blankets, which was very uneasy carriage for us, and worse for the wounded.’84


Once the last of the injured were away, the 1/9th were free to leave. By now the ships had moved out to sea and out of range of Soult’s artillery. For Campbell this meant a row of 3 miles in an open boat across rough water. Some of the oarsmen had been without food for nearly two days. At around 4 a.m. they reached the fleet and hurriedly boarded Audacious, Alfred and more than half a dozen other ships. Below decks the cold night air gave way to the stifling heat of an overloaded warship, causing wracking pains among the weary men. Campbell found the leather of his sole-less shoes had stuck fast to his feet. Though he soaked them in the hottest water he could bear, when he tried to peel them away the skin came with it.85


‘He, with many other officers, landed at Plymouth without a rag to cover him’, explained Colonel Forster. ‘He was a stranger and my father took him in.’ ‘I never shall forget the kindness your father and mother showed me’, Campbell told Forster forty-six years later in the Crimea, handing him an envelope addressed to ‘Mary Forster – a Christmas present with the love and blessing of an old friend of her dear father’. Inside was a cheque for £100 – more than most people earned in a year. Such a sum ‘would have a bad effect on a mere child’, Forster protested, but Campbell insisted: ‘Do not be so cruel as to deny me the gratification of forming my everlasting remembrance of it – although it is but a trifle. I have more than I require, for my desires are moderate.’ ‘It has touched my heart and shows the man’, wrote Forster. ‘He is as brave a soldier and as honourable a man as graces the Army List.’86


Though traumatic, the retreat was the crucible of Campbell’s methodology. It showed the fulcrum on which everyday grumbles turn into defiance. For an ensign to witness the near-total breakdown of army discipline was rare, but it equipped Campbell to deal with fractious troops in the Punjab forty years later, and a decade after that right across India, not once but twice. There have been few British commanders who faced down civil unrest (in Demerara, Ireland and Newcastle, and three times in India) with such a deft touch. Much of that was down to Corunna.


Six months in the Peninsula showed Campbell the antipodes of leadership: Wellesley, who wanted automata troops, and Moore, who preferred more initiative and less segregation. He absorbed elements of both. Moore’s progressive approach to training underscored Campbell’s career but having seen more soldiers die from hunger, exposure, cold and disease than bullets and shot, the importance of supplies was branded onto his consciousness, making Campbell doubly sensitive to the demands the thick-skinned sophistry of military bureaucracy imposed on the common soldier. When he was commander-in-chief, his men arrived on the battlefield warm, well fed and healthy. This was not simply out of the goodness of his heart. It was starkly practical. If the men had ample rations, there would be no need for them to strip the countryside. Theft on the march, such as he saw on the retreat, he deplored. Fifty years later, the sight of camp followers pillaging in India roused him to a fury: ‘Sir Colin himself charges fiercely among them with a thick stick in hand and thrashes the robbers heartily’, reported journalist William Russell.87 Campbell preferred to avoid subsistence looting by thorough planning, though it left him in bad odour with the press: Sir ‘Crawling Camel’ was too slow, too economical with his men, too cautious – while the Empire was in danger, he wasted his time arranging baggage trains and biscuit depots rather than slaughtering the heathen.


When it came to discipline, Campbell inclined to the Wellesley philosophy. Straggling and disorder were the root causes of Moore’s losses. Where Wellesley would have put the indiscipline down to ill-breeding and ordered much flogging, Moore took it personally, mindful perhaps that the troops’ excesses drove a coach and horses through his conception of the infantryman as one who thrived when the reins were loosened. The retreat demonstrated the limits of Moore’s approach, turning Campbell into a sympathetic but demanding chief. ‘There never was a commanding officer or general more exacting on all points of discipline than he’, wrote one Highland Brigade surgeon,88 but that was why in the fetid barracks of Hong Kong, the freezing trenches outside Sebastopol and the searing heat of Oudh, when Campbell’s men were tested by conditions as bad as and worse than those on the retreat with Moore, their loyalty and discipline never wavered.
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Corunna was the Dunkirk of its day. Unfortunately for Moore, the British believed not that he had snatched victory from the jaws of defeat, but that his retreat had eclipsed the triumph of Vimeiro. It left the public itching to get the cane out of the cupboard and give Bonaparte a sound thrashing – too visceral an impulse for the government to resist for long. Wellesley pushed hard for the army to return to Portugal, convinced that Spain was the vulnerable underbelly of Bonaparte’s empire. Castlereagh countered that distant expeditions drained the exchequer. He favoured something closer to home, where the army could be resupplied more easily, at lower cost – specifically, a raid on the Netherlands.


The bridgehead was to be on the pretty Dutch ‘island’ of Walcheren, like so much of Holland little more than an enclave of marshy land reclaimed from the sea, bordered by the north and south channels of the River Scheldt as it flowed westwards to the sea. The plan was to land, subdue any local opposition, speed to Antwerp and, with the Royal Navy, destroy the French fleet at anchor there. It was to be a lightning raid, a coup de main demanding courage, agility and daring, and a general of rare gifts. Sadly, the man selected to command was Lord Chatham. Nominally a lieutenant-general, Chatham had spent most of his career behind a desk.


While the invasion plans were finalised, the 9th Foot recuperated. Many men had dysentery and typhus or were lame from walking 300 miles barefoot across Spain. Those able to walk paraded like vagrants in rags ridden with lice. Their old uniforms were burnt and for once the army was quick to replace them. A successful recruiting drive, raising over 500 men from county militias, brought the regiment back up to strength and so, on 17 July, Campbell woke in his lodgings in Canterbury, to march for Deal, ready to sail for Walcheren. A court martial delayed departure for a couple of hours. Two soldiers were sentenced to 100 lashes each and justice administered, as usual, in front of the whole battalion. When they did move off, the locals thronged the streets to bid them farewell, among them ‘many women with watery eyes, who were then deprived of their fancy men’, as one soldier put it.89


Since Campbell had joined the 9th the previous summer, fourteen ensigns had been promoted; due less to the casualties of war and more to the enlargement of the regiment to two battalions. Campbell had shot up the list and so when Lieutenant Lenthal, who had only just exchanged into the 9th from the 3rd Dragoons, suddenly resigned his commission, Campbell was gazetted lieutenant in his place.* The army needed 1,000 new officers every year during the Peninsular War90 and so, once again, he got the promotion without purchase. The realities of war meant that an ensign was an apprentice. A lieutenant, in contrast, had a position of genuine responsibility, sometimes charged with a whole company.


Campbell found Deal brimming with soldiers, sailors, chandlers, grocers, farriers, tradesmen of all varieties, wives and lovers bidding fond farewells, and the usual mass of idle humanity that congregates wherever matters of moment appear to be afoot. The fleet was preparing to sail, so the 1/9th went straight to the docks to embark. Out to sea, the horizon was a forest of masts. Castlereagh had amassed the greatest British armada ever: 264 warships and 352 transports, including ‘all the fast sailing smuggling vessels which could be procured by hiring them – every rowing galley in Deal and Folkestone’, enough to carry 42,000 troops;91 a quarter of the infantry sent across the Channel on D-Day, but with no wireless communications or internal combustion engines, only signal flags, wind power and gunpowder. People travelled all the way from London to see it. Confidence among the officers was boundless. As one naval captain assured his wife, ‘We have every reason to believe what we hear – that there is not a French soldier in Holland!’92
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Events bore out that confidence, initially at least. On 30 July the bulk of Chatham’s army landed on Walcheren and next day forced the surrender of the capital, Middelburg. On 1 August General Hope landed at South Beveland93 and within twenty-four hours subdued the island. And all this was achieved at a cost of only a few hundred casualties.


Campbell’s battalion was still offshore, in the division of Lieutenant-General the Marquess of Huntly. Huntly’s intention was to land at Cadzand, on the south shore of the Scheldt Channel, take the Wulpen semaphore signal station and then destroy the batteries at Breskens.94 At Cadzand he expected to find a garrison of no more than 1,000, but the French, having received confirmation of British intentions on 21 July, had been stealthily pouring in reinforcements.95


Huntly commanded over 5,000 men but had only enough boats to land 700 at once. Unless they could get ashore in one large mass, they would be overrun by the National Guard at Cadzand and the three enemy battalions at Groede, south of Breskens.96 Huntly estimated that it would take over an hour and a half to land each tranche of 700 soldiers, which meant the first wave would have to hold the beachhead on their own against several thousand Frenchmen until the next wave of troops arrived.


In the transports off Blankenberghe the men were restless. Three times Campbell had been ordered to ready them, even to the point that the landing boats pulled alongside, only for the offensive to be delayed due to squalls.97 Meanwhile, the French could be seen ‘exercising on the sands’ with ‘horsemen parading along the shore’, to unnerve the British.98 Huntly decided his best course was to wait for more boats from Chatham, who, having ensconced his troops securely, had no further need of his landing craft. Despite repeated requests, none arrived. The navy blamed the weather.


The longer the attack was delayed, the more enemy troops arrived to reinforce Cadzand. At Breskens, General Rousseau had already ordered up two extra battalions from Ghent. Huntly was in an awkward position: by landing he would risk his entire division, but if he gave up he would be pilloried. After several postponements, and increasingly despondent at Chatham’s failure to send more boats, he threw in the towel. With Huntly’s threat gone, the French gleefully rowed their enlarged garrison at Cadzand across the Scheldt to reinforce Flushing.


Chatham redeployed Huntly’s division to South Beveland, although quite why, when the island had already been subjugated and was teeming with British troops, is unclear. Strategic considerations aside, Campbell (a bad sailor) was happy just to be back on dry land. After two weeks at sea, he finally disembarked on the shore of the Sloe Passage on South Beveland on 9 August. The battalion’s light company were quartered in a chapel in the small village of St Herenshock, and the rest in barns nearby. Supplies were plentiful. ‘Eatables are very cheap here’, reported Ensign Le Mesurier. ‘Fowls a shilling a couple, butter 8d a pound. Wild ducks, partridges and pigeons are plenty hereabouts but for want of powder and shot we cannot kill any.’99


Within days they were moved to the east end of the island, to be first in the enemy’s sights if the French left Antwerp, but with no imminent assault likely, time weighed heavy on their hands. Campbell occupied the men with vaulting ditches so ‘if the enemy should make an attack on the island, we should not be unacquainted with jumping’, as one soldier put it.100 But the French had no intention of attacking. They preferred instead to open the sluices holding back the sea to drown their enemy into submission.


Meanwhile, along the coast at Flushing, Chatham had finally got his artillery in place. At 1 p.m. on 13 August his guns opened fire. Two days and 10,000 rounds later, the garrison surrendered. Three hundred and thirty-five locals were dead, and many more wounded or homeless. The Stadt Huis, two churches and 247 other houses lay in ashes.101 ‘Never was a town made so cruel an example of’, wrote one naval officer.102


With this last pocket of French resistance defeated, the British were able to close the dykes and stop the water in the ditches rising, but in the summer heat the air still became uncomfortably humid, especially at night. Having taken off his boots before bed, one officer complained that by morning they were encrusted with green mould.103 The men were pestered by ferocious mosquitoes. All the time, the stench from the dykes was getting worse. Campbell’s men had still not shaken off the dysentery and fever they had contracted in Spain, and now found themselves in the perfect environment for another outbreak. After just a few days on South Beveland soldiers began to complain of the cold, despite the August sun. The colour drained from their faces as they were convulsed with shivers. The attacks would then subside, only to return a short while later. ‘I was in a burning fever at times, at other times trembling and chilled with cold’, recalled one sufferer. ‘I was unfit to rise or walk upon my feet.’104 The fever was followed by symptoms of typhoid, anorexia and deliriums, coated tongue and severe headaches. ‘We send a great many men every day in the Hospitals [sic]’, wrote Ensign Le Mesurier. ‘The Inhabitants tell us it will be much worse in September.’105


Medical opinion was divided as to the cause of the new ‘Walcheren Fever’, but the miasma generated by the heat and water was thought the most likely culprit. With no inkling that the transmission mechanism involved insects, they had, by accident, identified the underlying cause: stagnant water providing a breeding ground for malarial mosquitoes. Malaria, or ‘marsh ague’, had been prevalent in coastal Europe during warm summers since the Dark Ages, and continued right up until the 1950s. Most of the population of Walcheren suffered attacks in early childhood and again in adolescence, leaving them with some degree of immunity.106 The British soldiers had no natural protection and the lack of freshwater sources on the island exacerbated the problem as troops filled their canteens from whatever puddles they could find.107


On 27 August Chatham held a council of war. Reviewing the scale of French reinforcements, the intelligence that the defences of Antwerp were more formidable than first thought and the news that, if attacked, the French warships could retreat further upriver to Ruppelmonde or Dendermonde,108 he decided that besieging Antwerp was now beyond him. South Beveland was to be evacuated. It was too late. By 28 August, 4,000 troops on the island had caught the disease. Ten days later, 11,000 troops were sick, including Campbell. The response of the Army Medical Board was contemptible: when the government requested that the board investigate in person, its members tried to weasel out of going.109


On 14 September Chatham’s second-in-command, Lieutenant-General Sir Eyre Coote, took over. An experienced veteran of the American Revolutionary War and of expeditions to the Low Countries in the 1790s, the government was confident he would take control of the rapidly worsening situation. Instead, he wrote to Lord Chatham with the constant refrain of the unimaginative, ‘Something must be done.’110 On 27 October, Coote, unable to cope,* handed over to Lieutenant-General Sir George Don, who fortunately was a man who knew exactly what to do. He arranged to remove 6,000 troops to England, away from the murderous miasma.


Campbell was fortunate to be among the first evacuated. The 1/9th were picked up on 4 September but, due to contrary winds, did not reach English waters for eleven days.111 With so many feverish soldiers crammed into a ship, secondary infections spread fast. Campbell had been on Dutch soil for just twenty-five days, had played no part in the offensive against the French and now returned in a wrecked battalion for the second time in a year. He seemed doomed to be a witness to war and never its wager.


Morale in the battalion, already depressed, was dragged down further as the fatalities increased. The 1/9th lost seventy men to malaria.112 As Private Hale wrote, ‘several times, three or four in a day were carried to the burial ground … There were but few in the regiment that escaped having the ague either sooner or later.’113 The doctors tried emetics and purgatives, camphor, ether, mercury, warm baths, blisters applied to the shaven head or chest, and saline mixtures using tincture of opium, but nothing seemed able to conquer it.114 Infusions of bark were credited as partially effective,115 but one treatment stood out in preference to all others: as one doctor wrote, ‘Without Port Wine the Walcheren Fevers would have almost always terminated in death.’116


While soldiers died, the government vacillated. At first they wanted to leave a garrison at Walcheren, but at length Castlereagh realised that his expedition was over, a prominent entry in the catalogue of martial botchery. By 9 December the last British soldier had left. Campbell had seen Moore’s reputation trashed by military disaster and now watched Chatham suffer the same end. These exhibitions of the fragility of senior command, that a general was only as good as his last battle, were ideal preparation for the maulings that lay ahead for Campbell.


‘No one could have foreseen such an appalling plague as fell upon the troops’, claimed historian Sir John Fortescue.117 In fact, ‘the nature of the disease, known to be incident to that climate, and of which no apothecary’s apprentice in London could have been ignorant before the expedition sailed’,118 was well known, if anyone from the government had bothered to ask.** The people of Walcheren had suffered the fever for centuries: Albrecht Durer contracted it on a visit in the 1520s.119 The locals had tried to warn the British. Captain Gomm of the 9th, while billeted with a local doctor in Walcheren, wrote home on 7 August that his host had warned ‘the weather is very healthy now, but that in a couple of months his harvest begins, and lasts until the frost sets in’.120 As a staff officer, Gomm was ideally placed to pass this information on to Chatham, but evidently didn’t think it worth repeating. Gomm went down with the fever a few weeks later.


During the government enquiry which followed, the medical experts were quick to wash their hands of the affair. Physician-General and member of the Army Medical Board, Sir Lucas Pepys assured the enquiry, ‘If the destination of the expedition had been confided to him, he should have advised extraordinary precaution for the preservation of the health of the troops.’121 Almost every eminent physician declared that, had he only been consulted, he would have counselled against invading Walcheren. Likewise, the Army Medical Board was at pains to stress that the government had not sought their advice before the expedition, and spinelessly claimed that as a consultative board it was not their job to voice their opinion unless it was solicited. The Board was duly disbanded in February 1810, mourned by few, and replaced by a more interventionist body.122


There is an obvious fatalism in the focus of contemporary critics upon the choice of location, rather than the treatment given, as the cause of the disaster. Medicine was still too much of a black art for the press, public and politicians to blame hospitals for the death toll – rather they accused the army of courting pestilence by heading for Walcheren. It was a mistake Campbell saw repeated in the West Indies, in China, in Hong Kong and in the Crimea. Disease on campaign was expected and tolerated, but a skilled commander still did his best to avoid or at least circumscribe it. Walcheren made Campbell an expert. When he led the 98th Foot to China on a six-month journey on a packed naval frigate, he lost not one man to illness. In the Crimea his Highlanders enjoyed a better survival rate than most, despite the same inadequate medical provision and ignorance of climate shown at Walcheren, while during the Indian Mutiny the mortality of troops under his command was lower than it had been in peacetime.


That concern was partly selfish. Campbell was a martyr to agues for the rest of his life. One staff officer recorded him ‘pretty well riddled with wounds, and still suffering from fever contracted at Walcheren’ in February 1858.123 Bark infusions gave some relief, but nineteenth-century medicine had no cure. After service in the Caribbean, China and India, all of which were malarial, it is hard to be sure whether his lifelong susceptibility to fevers was due to recurrent Walcheren fever, reinfection in the tropics, or a series of distinct diseases, each subsequently contracted on his travels, but each with similar symptoms. Whichever it was, it plagued him year after year.


So far, Campbell had been through one victory, one draw, one appalling retreat and the most disastrous amphibious operation in British history. On paper it might not look like a propitious start to a great military career, but these four key formative experiences moulded his whole approach to war. While Vimeiro showed him how to fight, Corunna impressed upon him the fragility of an army poorly supplied and the limits to the demands a commander could make of his men. Walcheren demonstrated the importance of intelligence about local conditions, of knowing when to retreat and regroup and the capacity of disease to ruin an army far more quickly than the enemy. Starting with the captain who took him by the hand to the British front line at Vimeiro, he had so far been only an onlooker, but at one remove from the conflict, he learnt the vital art of detachment. So armed, Campbell, despite many injuries and near misses, could put himself in the very thickest of the fighting well into his sixties. It imbued him with that most sought-after of military attributes: fearlessness.





Notes


*              Because of the heat, the French commander had issued light linen smocks (Fortescue, VI, 223; Chartrand, 68; Anon., Vicissitudes, 16).


*              The prohibition on bobbing was strictly enforced. ‘You are a coward. I will stop your corn, three days!’ bellowed Colonel Mainwaring of the 51st as one of his charges flinched as a cannonball flew past. The reaction of the object of his wrath – his horse – is unrecorded (Davies, 103).


*              On 16 January 1804 he retired from the 68th Foot on half-pay. On 4 June 1811 he was promoted, still on half-pay, to lieutenant-colonel. From 1820 he briefly returned to full pay with the 2nd Royal Veterans Battalion, but disappears from the Army List in 1822. Burke’s Peerage (1860) also records another uncle called Colin Campbell, who ‘was killed a subaltern in the war of the American Revolution’.


**            An entry in a bond of provision in the Sheriff Court Books of Argyll records how in 1768 Henry Campbell made over £500 to his son Duncan, and £200 to his daughter Hester, appointing tutors for his ‘lawful children’, as he described them, because his wife Alice had run away (see Paton). The ubiquity of the Campbell name in Islay and Argyll is amply demonstrated by the fact that all three parties in this love triangle bore the surname Campbell, including Alice as her maiden and both her married names.


***          See Appendix B.


****        That Major Campbell could afford the Royal Academy fees of £53 15s 10d on half-pay in 1806–07 suggests he was a man of independent means.


*****      He was discharged on account of the ‘infirmities of advanced life’ aged 35 (Loraine Petre, II, 439).


*              That Captain Alexander Campbell is described as a non-specific ‘relation’ suggests that he was a relative of some distance. He died in Lisbon on 8 December 1810. According to his cousin, Colin’s brother John also gained a commission but died on active service during the Napoleonic Wars. Without any record of regiment, date, age, etc., he has been impossible to trace.


**            Given that promotion would have cost them nothing, it is curious that all three stayed at the same rank throughout the Peninsular War.


*              The standard infantry deployment against cavalry was a hollow square of men. This action of the 2/9th is in most accounts forgotten. ‘The 2nd Battalion 9th Regiment had been omitted in the order of thanks to the army on this occasion from an omission of General Anstruther … I mentioned the circumstance of the omission to Sir A. Wellesley on the following day and he very handsomely corrected it in the general orders of that day. They were too late to be mentioned in the dispatch’, explained Cameron (RNRM/45.2).


*              What we would call boots today; they were termed shoes to distinguish them from the thigh-length boots of the cavalry.


*              Promotion ‘without purchase’ was by seniority, i.e. the longest-serving ensign got first refusal when a lieutenancy fell vacant.


*              His resignation may have been due to recurrent fever picked up in the West Indies. In November 1815 he was charged with indecent conduct and accused of paying boys from Christ’s Hospital to flog him. He was acquitted, but after an inquiry by the Duke of York, he was dismissed from the army and stripped of his knighthood. He died in 1823 a broken man.


**            See Pringle.
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Into Battle





‘The art of war is simple enough. Find out where your enemy is. Get at him as soon as you can. Strike him as hard as you can, and keep moving on’


General Ulysses S. Grant








Two months after returning from the Scheldt, Campbell was transferred back to the 2nd Battalion, which had been stationed on Gibraltar since 2 July 1809. While Campbell had served under Moore and Chatham, the 2/9th had been fighting in Portugal under Wellesley (recently ennobled as Viscount Wellington) and was now on the Rock for rest and recuperation. Lieutenant Campbell was placed in the light company, the regiment’s skirmishers, as No. 2 to Lieutenant William Seward.* Born in Southampton, a few miles from Campbell’s school in Gosport, Seward was three months older than Campbell, had been gazetted ensign only two months before him and shared his lack of money. The light company operated as the battalion’s very own miniature light infantry corps. Its officers often had to fight hand-to-hand, so Campbell procured a short, lightweight, non-regulation version of the 1796 light cavalry sabre, probably from one of the numerous post-battle auctions of dead men’s chattels. In contrast to the swords carried by most infantry subalterns, this was a serious practical weapon, a favourite among officers who saw close action. Campbell carried it for the rest of his life.**


The light company guaranteed Campbell a place in the thick of any fighting; the ideal place for a young, ambitious young officer to get noticed or killed. He hadn’t long to wait. Marshal Soult was known to want Tarifa, the small port just along the coast at the southernmost tip of Spain. Though of no strategic significance, it would cock a snook at British domination of the straits if the French stormed Tarifa unopposed, and so Campbell’s company, as part of a mixed detachment of 360 men, was sent as a new garrison.


[image: images]


The French escaping Vitoria from A. Forbes’s Battles of the Nineteenth Century.


Six days after their arrival on 14 April 1810, Tarifa was surrounded by 500 French soldiers on a cattle-rustling mission. A spirited sortie drove them back into the countryside. Worried the enemy might return, the Governor of Gibraltar despatched an extra four companies of the 47th Foot to beef up the garrison. This did the trick. Soult seemed content to leave Tarifa to the British; if this bagatelle tied up Wellington’s troops, so much the better. After an uneventful summer, on 15 September Campbell’s light company was relieved by the 28th Foot and returned to Gibraltar.


Soult had bigger game in his sights. The Supreme Junta of Spain, driven by the French from Madrid during Moore’s foray into Spain, had decamped to Cadiz. Soult wanted this rebel outpost eradicated. He gave Marshal Claude-Victor Perrin 19,000 men (including engineers and artillery) to bring Cadiz to heel. By February 1810, Victor’s troops had encircled the town. Rather than waste lives in an armed assault, Victor was content to bottle up the Spanish on their isthmus and starve them out.


As soon as the French appeared, Wellington started reinforcing Cadiz with British troops under the command of Major-General Thomas Graham, a soldier of proven courage and personal resource. For him, fighting the French was also a matter of personal vengeance. His wife had died in France at the outbreak of the revolution and Graham had been moving her remains when rampaging Jacobins ripped open the coffin, convinced that it was being used to smuggle weapons.1 Graham never forgave this desecration.


For nearly a year he waited in Cadiz. Then in January 1811, a ‘favourable opportunity for acting offensively’ presented itself, Victor’s army ‘having been diminished by a detachment of four or five thousand men’.2 Graham had a bold scheme to raise the siege: while Victor’s gaze was on Cadiz, Graham would sail south, land near Gibraltar and, in concert with the Spanish army, march back and attack the French troops in the rear while the garrison left at Cadiz simultaneously stormed out and rushed the enemy lines. It was risky. Cadiz would be left vulnerable and the French general Sebastiani had enough men in Marbella to make trouble for Graham.


Graham’s men left Cadiz on 21 February 1811 and landed at Algeciras the next day. Here they met up with a detachment from Gibraltar made up of the flank companies of the 2/9th, 82nd and 28th Foot, including Seward and Campbell’s light company. These six companies would form a crack flank battalion, led by Campbell’s old Tarifa garrison commander, Major ‘Mad John’ Browne (made brevet lieutenant-colonel for the campaign), and subject to Graham’s direct orders only. Graham now fielded 5,000 men.
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Thomas Graham (1748–1843). Steel engraving by H. Meyer, after T. Lawrence. (Courtesy of www.antique-prints.de)


On the 27th a Spanish contingent of 7,000 soldiers arrived. Inexperienced, poorly equipped, dressed in a ragbag of uniforms and vapidly led by mediocre officers, they nevertheless comprised the bulk of the allied army, so supreme command now passed to Spanish general Manuel Lapena. History has little good to say about Lapena, a man who, in Blakeney’s words, mistook ‘mulish obstinacy for unshaken determination’.3 Others have been less charitable. Anthony Brett-James described him as a ‘plausible, incompetent man, whose selfishness and disloyalty were matched by his dislike of taking a decision or accepting responsibility’.Lapena’s own troops called him ‘Dona Manuela’, which, figuratively speaking, translates as something along the lines of ‘Big Girl’s Blouse’.4


The next day the allies set out. After several fatiguing forced marches, by 5 March Lapena’s army was nearing Cadiz, and here, at Bermeja, the Spanish vanguard ran into the French. Lapena’s men fell on 2,500 troops under General Villatte, while from Cadiz Spanish general Zayas laid a bridge of boats across the harbour, so his garrison could sally forth and complete the pincer movement. Under fire from north and south, the French fell back. Lapena was pleased with the ease of his victory, but for one of Graham’s aides-de-camp it was that very ease which aroused suspicion. ‘That is not like the French’, observed Lieutenant Stanhope.5


While Lapena’s Spanish troops were savouring their triumph, Browne’s flank battalion was still several miles away at Barrosa Hill, which was, in Graham’s view, the tactically critical position south of Cadiz. To reach Barrosa, Campbell’s men had endured another of Lapena’s all-night marches: seventeen hours without a stop for food or water. Footsore and flagging, but reassured now Lapena had put the French to flight, Campbell’s men tried to get some rest, the baggage train likewise. Nearby, the two squadrons of hussars of the King’s German Legion,* the only cavalry serving with Graham under the British flag, dismounted and loosened their saddles.6


Instead of chasing his beaten enemy, Lapena stayed put and ordered the British north to join him. Graham protested that positioning the allied army near the isthmus leading to Cadiz would just hem them in and leave them susceptible to a French attack. Lapena compromised, allowing Browne’s flank battalion to remain at Barrosa Hill, along with five Spanish battalions as a rear guard. Graham would lead the rest of his men through the woods to the north of Barrosa Hill and, once they reached Lapena outside Cadiz, the rear guard would abandon their hill and follow. It was exactly what Victor wanted. The French troops Lapena had defeated at Bermeja were just a foretaste. Victor had redeployed most of his men to the east at Chiclana. And so as Graham left for Cadiz, Victor emerged to fall on his flank.


Victor split his force in two, one half heading for Barrosa Hill, the other half, under General Leval, towards the woods. Campbell’s company was resting on the western slope when the French were sighted advancing from the east. An anxious Colonel Whittingham, serving with the Spanish cavalry, rode up to Browne to ask his intentions. ‘What do I intend to do, sir? I intend to fight the French!’ came the reply. ‘You may do as you please, Colonel Browne, but we are decided on a retreat’, replied Whittingham. ‘Very well, sir, I shall stop where I am, for it shall never be said that John Frederick Browne ran away from the post which his general ordered him to defend!’7


This spat was enough to convince Spanish generals Murgeon and Beguines that it was time to leave. Campbell watched as all five of their battalions, after some half-hearted skirmishing, started in full retreat.8 The baggage train followed; pack horses, nostrils flaring, careering along the sands, past upended carts circled with spilt rations and ammunition, as the able-bodied joined the desperate stampede northwards along the beach towards Cadiz and safety.


From the brow of the hill Browne could make out enemy infantry drawing closer. With the Spanish gone, he had barely 500 men to repel 2,500 Frenchmen.9 Victor had a further 4,000 men in reserve behind them. Five hundred French cavalrymen were skirting round the hill, to seize the coast road. All that stood in their way was two German and four Spanish cavalry squadrons – that is, if Whittingham stood his ground.
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The one place offering a modicum of protection was a ruined chapel at the brow of the hill. Browne ordered a handful of men to occupy it and loop-hole the walls, while outside Campbell and Seward formed their company up with the rest, making three sides of a square, each side four men deep, with the chapel forming the fourth.10 But besides the enemy cavalry encircling them and enemy infantry heading their way, French artillery was now closing in. The flank battalion risked being surrounded and pulverised. Browne may have been quixotic but he was not suicidal. Rather than making a death-or-glory stand, he ordered his men to make for the trees.


When Graham, in the thick pine woods to the north, received news of the French offensive in progress, ‘he seemed at first to doubt the truth of this intelligence,’ as one officer recalled, ‘but a round shot came amongst us and killed Captain Thomas of the Guards. He was then convinced of its accuracy.’11 Graham directed Colonel Wheatley’s brigade to stop Leval as he neared the wood, while the rest would double back to engage the French troops advancing on Barrosa Hill. Given the difficulty of manoeuvring an army through a forest, this gambit would take some time.


In the interim, French infantry had overrun the chapel. As Browne led his battalion towards the trees, enemy cavalry bore down upon them, and the order to form square was barked out. ‘Be steady, my boys, reserve your fire until they are within ten paces, and they will never penetrate you’, roared Browne.12 The enemy, sabres raised, mounts snorting, accelerated towards them. Campbell’s company prepared to fire but as the French dragoons covered the final few yards, the hussars of the King’s German Legion swept past and laid into them.* The confusion gave Browne enough time to lead his men to safety. By now Graham’s troops were disgorging from the forest in disarray. The general emerged furious. ‘Did I not give you orders to defend Barrosa Hill?’ he demanded. ‘Yes, sir’, replied a stunned Browne. ‘But you would not have me fight the whole French army with 470 men?’


Graham made it quite clear that he would, and that he would brook no denial. Browne was to turn back and retake the hill. The rest of the British army was still not out of the woods yet, and Browne’s flank battalion was the only one in a fit state to stem the French advance. Graham instructed Browne to form his 470 men into a line, two deep, to mount a frontal assault up the slope. It was the first time Campbell had led men in battle, and for all their light infantry expertise, they were to be thrown at the enemy with no tactical sophistication. For Graham, sacrificing Browne’s contingent was an acceptable price to pay to buy time for the rest of his army to regroup. So, after being so close to battle at Vimeiro and Corunna, after all the hunger, disease and death of the last three years, it looked like Campbell was to end his days as cannon fodder.


‘Gentlemen, I am happy to be the bearer of good news!’ Browne announced. ‘General Graham has done you the honour of being the first to attack these fellows. Now follow me, you rascals.’ And with that he strode up the hill, lustily belting out ‘Heart of Oak’.13 Campbell marched forward, cavalry sabre in hand, a few yards from Seward, their neat row of infantrymen behind them. Once across the small ravine at the foot of the hill the ground was virtually featureless, with barely a hollow to shield them from enemy fire. As the battalion advanced, eyes fixed on the summit, French artillery and infantry at first held fire and then with a deafening roar the guns on the crest of the hill exploded, scouring the hillside with grape shot. In unison the muskets of three enemy battalions fired. The effect was carnage. Two hundred of Browne’s 500 men were killed or wounded. Browne had no artillery to answer the French, and no reserves to call upon. He could only rally his men and, pointing towards the enemy, roar at them, ‘There you are, you rascals, if you don’t kill them, they will kill you. So fire away!’14
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The Battle of Vimeiro
August 21st 1808
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The Battle of Barrosa Hill
March 5th 1811
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